I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner-Plaintiffs Michael Romney, Faron Bauer, and Kristen 

Childress respectfully request this Court to accept review ofthe Court of 

Appeals decision designated in Part II of this Petition. 

II. DECISION FOR REVIEW 

Petitioners seek review of a published decision by the Court of 

Appeals, Division I, in the above referenced case which was filed on 

February 17, 2015. Reconsideration was denied on March 17, 2015. The 

Court of Appeals Opinion to be reviewed is reproduced in the Appendix to 

this Petition. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

In this case, Defendants drafted an arbitration agreement so one 

sided and misleading that hidden provisions within the employment 

contract actually exempt the employers from arbitration, affording them a 

public jury trial to sue employee-Plaintiffs. In contrast, Plaintiffs must 

confidentially arbitrate all claims, with substantial limitations to statutorily 

mandated employee remedies, because of terms this Court has found are 

prone to arbitrator mischief. Virtually the same terms and provisions have 

been found unconscionable by this Supreme Court. 

This case is of vital importance to the citizens of Washington. 

Defendants discharged two experienced and respected medical doctors for 

attempting to protect the health and safety of Washington patients from 

harm by Defendants' impaired provider. Defendants also fired these 
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doctors for demanding overdue wages on behalf of Plaintiffs and the 

Putative Class. 

The Superior Court voided the Arbitration Addendum 

("Addendum") as unconscionable, carefully adhering to recent 

Washington Supreme Court precedent. The Court of Appeals, Division I, 

reversed and remanded for an Order compelling arbitration, failing to 

apply binding Washington Supreme Court precedent. Thus, Petitioner

Plaintiffs request this Court to review whether the Court of Appeal erred: 

1. By failing to find substantively unconscionable an arbitration 

agreement that (1) covertly and unilaterally forces employee-Plaintiffs and 

putative class members to arbitrate their claims against Defendants while 

exempting Defendants from arbitration; (2) limits employee rights to 

statutory damages, without limitation to Defendants; (3) limits employees' 

right to statutory attorney fees; (4) forces employees to arbitrate their 

claims confidentially while unilaterally allowing Defendants a public jury 

trial; (5) forces employees to bear half the costs of arbitration for their 

claims while multi-billion dollar Defendants have access to a relatively 

free public court; and, (6) forces non-party employees to arbitrate suits 

against each other. 

2. When it concluded that, even if the provisions were 

unconscionable, they could be severed where here at least six 

unconscionable provisions pervade the Addendum, severing them 

significantly alters it, and Defendants unconscionably exempted 
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themselves from arbitration with hidden provisions, requiring the entire 

Addendum be voided making it impossible to sever. 

3. By allowing Defendants to waive enforcement of an 

unconscionable confidentiality provision only after Defendants lost on the 

issues at the trial court level, which ignores this Court's ruling in Gandee 

v. LDL Freedom Enters., Inc., 117 Wn.2d 598,608,293 P.3d 1197 (2013), 

which expressly rejected this type of waiver in arbitration since it rewards 

and encourages employers to draft unconscionable agreements. 

4. When it held that the Arbitration Addendums at issue in this case 

were not procedurally unconscionable when the provisions allowing 

employer-Defendants to seek unlimited relief from a jury were hidden in 

separate provisions of a 28 page document and denied employee-Plaintiffs 

a meaningful choice. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Defendants fired Dr. Romney and Dr. Bauer for reporting 
unsafe clinical practices and for requesting payment of wages 
owed to themselves and other employees. 

Dr. Romney, Dr. Bauer, and Dr. Childress were employed by 

Defendants and provided medical services at Defendants' Prompt Care 

facility. CP 39, 75, 111. 1 Plaintiffs excelled at their jobs, receiving no 

discipline, write-ups, or counseling, while being regarded by their peers 

and patients as outstanding medical providers. CP 39-40, 75-76, Ill. 

1 The Clerk's Papers are cited herein as "CP _"and the Report of Proceedings 
as "RP " 
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Defendants fired Dr. Romney and Dr. Bauer after they complained 

about another doctor's unsafe clinical practices and complained about 

Defendants not paying wages owed to themselves and to other physicians 

and medical providers. CP 39-40, 75-76, 148. Just prior to their 

terminations, Dr. Romney and Dr. Bauer had escalated their complaints 

and were told by Defendants' Human Resources that they would discuss 

their ongoing concerns regarding patient safety and unpaid compensation 

at an upcoming meeting. CP 39-40, 76. Two days before the meeting, 

however, Dr. Romney and Dr. Bauer were retaliatorily and preemptively 

fired for false reasons. CP 156. 

Following their terminations, Dr. Romney and Dr. Bauer sued 

Defendants for retaliation and wrongful discharge in violation of 

Washington public policy and wage statutes. CP 144-154. All three 

Plaintiffs sued for unpaid wages under RCW 49.48 et seq. and 49.52 et 

seq., individually and on behalf of a class of all other similarly situated 

physicians, physician assistants, ARNPs, and nurse-midwifes. !d. 

B. Defendants forced Plaintiffs to sign unconscionable Arbitration 
Addendums as part of their employment agreements, 
misleadingly hiding the provisions that allowed Defendants to 
unilaterally retain their right to a jury. 

Dr. Romney's and Dr. Bauer's employment with Defendants, 

including Franciscan Medical Group ("FMG"), was governed by a 28 

page June 2011 "FMG Physician Employment Agreement," they were 

forced to sign, while Dr. Childress' was similarly required to sign a 

January 2012 "FMG Professional Provider Agreement." CP 39, 45-71, 73, 
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75, 81-107, 109, J11, J16-136, 215-216, 224, 228-229. The Agreements 

were presented as non-negotiable and submitted on a take it or leave it 

basis. CP 215-216, 224, 228-229. Sections ofthe Agreements allowing 

Defendants to retain their unlimited right to a jury trial were hidden from 

Plaintiffs in two sections separate from the Addendum. CP 66-67, 102-

103, 122-123. Plaintiffs never intended to waive their right to an 

affordable forum or limit their rights and remedies should any disputes 

against their employers arise. CP 40, 77, 112. 

1. The Addendum forces employees to arbitrate their 
claims while Defendants have the right to pursue 
unlimited relief against employees in front of a jury. 

The Addendum and accompanying provisions in the Employment 

Agreements contain at least six unconscionable terms, which unilaterally 

force Plaintiffs and other employees to arbitrate their claims against 

Defendants and severely limits their ability to obtain damages, attorney 

fees, or bring their cases in an affordable, public forum. Misleadingly, the 

Addendum falsely appears to allow exceptions to mandatory arbitration 

for claims relating to Defendants' Peer Review Policy, worker's 

compensation claims, or health benefits. CP 63. However, legally 

employers are immune from suit for Peer Review or workers 

compensation claims. 42 U.S.C. § 11111 et seq. (making employers/peer 

review committees immune from suit for Peer Review actions); RCW 

51.04.010 (abolishing lawsuits for workers compensation claims). And in 

the case of health benefits, those claims generally relate to third parties 

who are not parties to the arbitration agreement. Thus, this misleading 
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Addendum does not allow Plaintiffs to bring any claims against 

Defendants in front of a jury. 

Importantly, while the Addendum purports to apply to both 

Defendants and employees, hidden in two separate places in the 

Agreement, FMG retains for itself the right to seek unlimited relief in 

court. CP 66-67, 102-103, 122-123. Indeed, the "FMG Specific 

Provisions" expressly allow Defendants to file a public lawsuit and 

demand a jury trial without any limitation as to relief: 

FMG shall be entitled to injunctive and other equitable 
relief, including specific performance, in case of any such 
breach or attempted breach, in addition to such other 
remedies as may exist at law ... The parties consent to 
exclusive jurisdiction and venue in the state and federal 
courts sitting in County of Pierce, State of Washington. 

CP 67, 103. 

Similarly, Exhibit F ("Non-Competition and Non-

Solicitation") of Dr. Romney's and Dr. Bauer's Agreements allows 

Defendants to seek relief against employees "in addition to any 

other remedy it may have in law or equity" in any "court of 

competent jurisdiction." CP 66, 102. FMG is also able to 

unilaterally bring claims for broad relief against Dr. Childress in a 

"court of competent jurisdiction." CP 12 3. As noted above, there 

are no similar provisions allowing Plaintiffs to initiate lawsuits in 

court. CP 45-71, 81-107, 116-136. 
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2. The Arbitration Addendum limits Plaintiffs' right to 
seek damages. 

The Addendum unilaterally strips employees of damages and 

attorney fees and costs they are entitled to under Washington law, while 

simultaneously allowing Defendants to seek any and all relief against their 

employees. The Addendum prohibits awarding employees punitive, 

exemplary, consequential, or incidental damages unless such damages are 

required by law. CP 63, 99, 135. Similarly, in violation ofRCW 49.48, 

49.52, and common law and public policy, the Addendum only allows 

employees to recover attorney fees and costs if such an award is required 

by law, a standard prone to arbitrator mischief /d. 

In contrast, the preceding sentence ofthe Addendum states that 

"no arbitrator shall have the power to alter you at-will employment ... 

except as provided by law," thus, highlighting that "punitive, exemplary, 

consequential or incidental damages" and attorney's fees and costs should 

not be awarded unless "required by law." In addition, Defendants hide 

two provisions allowing them any and all "remedies available to it under 

this Agreement or applicable law" in court. Thus, unlike Plaintiffs, 

Defendants may obtain any relief "provided" and "available," even if such 

relief is not "required" by law. 

3. The Arbitration Addendum forces Plaintiffs to bear the 
costs of arbitration unless they can "prove" those costs 
would prevent them from pursuing a claim. 

The Addendum also forces employees to bear half the costs of 

arbitration-an expense that far exceeds any costs the employees would 
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pay to pursue their claims in court. CP 63, 99, 135. Plaintiffs produced 

uncontested evidence that arbitration will carry an estimated cost in the six 

figures. CP 139-140. Unrebutted declarations prove this will significantly 

deter Plaintiffs from pursuing their claims. CP 40-41, 77, 112, 140-141. 

4. The Arbitration Addendum forces Plaintiffs to 
confidentially arbitrate their claims. 

The Addendum forces secrecy on Plaintiffs, tilting the scales in 

favor of Defendants and hiding a pattern of retaliation and unsafe practices 

from the public and other Plaintiffs. The Addendum forces arbitration 

"under the most current version of the American Arbitration Association's 

National Rules for the Resolution of Employment Disputes." CP 63, 99, 

135. The AAA's Rules mandate that "[t]he arbitrator shall maintain the 

confidentiality of the arbitration and shall have the authority to make 

appropriate rulings to safeguard that confidentiality, unless the parties 

agree otherwise or the law provides to the contrary." CP 160. Contrary to 

their assertion at the Court of Appeals, Defendants did not agree to waive 

confidentiality until after they lost at the trial court, unnecessarily forcing 

Plaintiffs to litigate this issue when confidentiality is unconscionable 

under this Court's prior rulings. 

5. The Arbitration Addendum forces Plaintiffs to arbitrate 
any claims against other employees. 

Finally, the Addendum forces Plaintiffs and other employees to 

arbitrate claims against each other including those FMG employees who 

have never entered into such agreements with each other. CP 63, 99, 135. 

As written, any disputes between Defendants' employees must be 
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arbitrated (e.g., a car accident between two FMG employees while 

employed). 

C. The Court of Appeals erroneously reversed the Superior Court 
Order voiding the Arbitration Addendum as unconscionable. 

Plaintiffs moved the Superior Court to strike the Addendum as 

unconscionable, and Defendants cross-moved to compel arbitration. CP 

12-37, 169-189. On January 24,2014, the Superior Court issued an oral 

ruling striking the Addendum as unconscionable for multiple reasons, 

including that "the contract is overly one-sided ... patently unfair and 

harsh." RP 31:17-19. The court also found that the unconscionable 

provisions in the Addendum could not be severed and therefore the 

Addendum as a whole was unconscionable and void. RP 31: 16-32:4. 

Defendants appealed to the Court of Appeals, Division I, which 

issued its opinion on February 17, 2015 reversing the trial court's ruling. 

In so doing, the Court ignored Washington Supreme Court precedent and 

held that the Addendum and the majority of the contested provisions are 

not unconscionable or could be severed, while also finding that the 

confidentiality issue is essentially moot because Defendants offered to 

waive it during appeal (only after the trial court held that confidentiality 

was unconscionable). The Court also erroneously held that the Addendum 

was not procedurally unconscionable. As explained below, however, the 

Court of Appeals' opinion misapplies and overlooks controlling Supreme 

Court precedent and is contrary to public policy. Plaintiffs therefore ask 

this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision and reverse. 
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V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

The Addendum Plaintiffs were forced to sign in this case is the 

most one-sided arbitration agreement this Court has likely ever 

considered. Defendants drafted an arbitration agreement with hidden 

provisions within the employment contract that actually exempt the 

employers from arbitration. In contrast, Plaintiffs must confidentially 

arbitrate all claims, with substantial limitations to statutorily mandated 

employee remedies. Virtually the same terms and provisions have been 

found unconscionable by this Supreme Court. 

Moreover, recent binding Washington Supreme Court precedent 

has held that virtually identical provisions applying to arbitration 

agreements as those at issue here were substantively unconscionable and 

voided the arbitration agreements. See Gandee v. LDL Freedom Enters., 

Inc., 176 Wn.2d598, 608,293 P.3d 1197 (2013); Hill v. Garda CL 

Northwest, Inc., 179 Wn.2d 47, 308 P.3d 635 (2013); McKee v. AT&T 

Corp., 164 Wn.2d 372, 191 P.3d 845 (2008). Despite clear authority from 

this Court, the Court of Appeals failed to apply the law, found that any 

potentially unconscionable provisions could be severed, and that 

Defendant could waive certain unconscionable claims on for the first time 

on appeal. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with binding 

Washington Supreme Court cases and should be reversed. RAP 13.4(b)(1). 

In addition, by pretending to agree to mutual arbitration while 

hiding unconscionable provisions that reserved Defendants' right to a jury 

trial, Defendants unfairly attempt to curtail the rights of employees to a 
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fair and affordable public trial while Defendants retain the right for 

themselves to sue employees for all available relief in an affordable and 

public court. The Court of Appeals decision encourages employers like 

Defendants to draft monstrously harsh and one-sided employment 

agreements they know will discourage, and in some cases preclude 

employees from pursuing their rights, undermining the purpose of these 

laws. As such, this case involves an issue of substantial public interest 

under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

A. Under binding Supreme Court holdings, the Arbitration 
Addendum is one-sided and substantively unconscionable. 

This Court has repeatedly held that a term in an arbitration 

agreement "is substantively unconscionable where it is 'one-sided or 

overly harsh ... "' Gandee, 176 Wn.2d at 603, quoting Adler v. Fred Lind 

Manor, 153 Wn.2d 331, 344-45, 103 P .3d 773 (2004); see also Hill, 179 

Wn.2d at 55 (same); Zuver v. Airtouch Communications, 153 Wn.2d 293, 

303, 103 P.3d 753 (2004). In Zuver, the Court held that arbitration 

provisions that appear on their face to be bilateral are in fact 

unconscionable if they would have the impermissible effect ofbeing 

overly one-sided. 153 Wn.2d at 318-319. The Court clarified that it was 

"not concerned here with whether the parties have mirror obligations 

under the agreement, but rather whether the effect of the provision is so 

'one-sided' as to render it patently 'overly harsh' in this case." !d. at n. 16. 

Given this clear law, courts hold that arbitration provisions are 

unfairly one-sided and unenforceable if they allow an employer to institute 
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lawsuits against employees, while forcing employees to arbitrate their 

claims against the employer. In Ingle v. Circuit City Stores, Inc., the Ninth 

Circuit held that "it is unfairly one-sided for an employer with superior 

bargaining power to impose arbitration on the employee as plaintiff but 

not to accept such limitations when it seeks to prosecute a claim against 

the employee." 328 F.3d 1165, 1173 (9th Cir. 2003)2
; see also Luna v. 

Household Fin. Corp. III, 236 F. Supp. 2d 1166, 1180 (W.D. Wash. 2002). 

Here, Defendants admitted at the Court of Appeals that despite the 

Addendum, the Employment Agreements "allow FMG to bring a claim in 

court for injunctive relief involving 'breach or attempted breach of all the 

provisions of [the Employment] Agreement.'" Appellants' Opening Brief 

at 20. Importantly, and contrary to the Court of Appeals' analysis, these 

provisions specifically allow Defendants to also pursue "other remedies 

as may exist at law" in court and are not limited to equitable relief. Thus, 

the Addendum seeks to impose a one-way arbitration obligation that only 

applies to Plaintiffs, while the "exclusive jurisdiction" for Defendants' 

claims lies in the state and federal courts. This is monstrously one-sided 

and unconscionable. 

Disturbingly, Defendants (the drafters) actually concealed the 

clauses exempting themselves from arbitration in different sections of the 

Employment Agreements. CP 66-67, 102-103, 122-123. In McKee, this 

2 While the Ninth Circuit was evaluating the arbitration clause under California 
law, California applies a nearly identical standard when determining whether a 
contract is substantively unconscionable- whether it is "so one sided as to shock 
the conscience." Ingle, 328 F.3d at 1172. 
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Court struck down an arbitration agreement where a clause outside of the 

arbitration agreement granted AT&T a one-sided right not present in the 

arbitration agreement itself. 164 Wn.2d at 400. The Court held that this 

unilateral right (to collect fees) was unconscionable and, combined with 

three other unconscionable provisions, struck the arbitration agreement. 

/d. at 400, 402-03.3 It violates Washington law and public policy to 

disregard provisions that unilaterally grant Defendants the substantive and 

fundamental right to a jury trial, especially when Defendants strategically 

concealed these provisions in separate sections of the Agreement. 

B. The Addendum is unconscionable because it limits employees' 
right to collect damages and attorney fees 

Under Hill, provisions in a contract limiting a party's right to 

recover damages and attorney fees are substantively unconscionable. 

Under the Addendum, Plaintiffs are limited in their ability to recover both. 

Indeed, Plaintiffs cannot recover "exemplary, consequential or incidental 

damages" unless awarding such damages is "required'' by law. CP 63, 99, 

135. Similarly, "each party shall bear his/her own attorneys' fees and 

other costs" "except as otherwise required by law." /d. Likewise, in Adler, 

the Court stated that arbitration provisions requiring parties to "bear their 

own respective costs and attorneys fees" undermine plaintiffs' statutory 

right to collect fees, and are therefore "substantively unconscionable." 

Adler, 153 Wn.2d at 355. 

3 The provision at issue was contained in Section 3 of the contract, entitled 
"INDEMNIFICATION," whereas the arbitration provision was contained in 
Section 7 ofthe contract. 164 Wn.2d at 400. 
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The Court of Appeals completely ignored Hill, failing to recognize 

that this Court has already found that this exact type of limitation on relief 

is "prone to mischief' and unconscionable. 179 Wn.2d at 56, n. 4. In Hill, 

an arbitration agreement stated that plaintiffs could not recover damages 

they would otherwise be entitled to, unless those damages were 

"specifically mandated by federal or state statute or law." 179 Wn.2d at 

56. Because "mandate" and "require" are synonyms, this is essentially 

identical to the language in this Addendum, which prohibits awarding 

employees "exemplary, consequential or incidental damages" unless 

awarding such damages is "required'' by law. CP 63, 99, 135.4 In Hill this 

Court stated that such language, which prohibits damages unless 

mandated/required by law, "curb[s] what an employee could recover" and 

is unconscionable, reasoning that limiting an employee's ability to recover 

damages "mandated" by law was too equivocal and "prone to mischief." 

179 Wn.2d at 56, n. 4. 

Under Hill, it does not matter that the Addendum states fees may 

be awarded if "mandated/required" by law - it is prone to mischief, 

especially when applied in arbitration, which is unchecked by appellate 

courts. As this Court found in McKee, under a similar limitation on 

attorney's fees, "[i]f an arbitrator awarded even once cent less than the 

amount. .. requested (which arbitrators often do in attempting to find a 

4 See http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/mandate, which in fact defines 
the verb "mandate" as "to officially require "something." See also Bellevue 
School Dist. No. 405 v. Bentley, 38 Wn. App. 152, 158, 684 P.2d 793 (1984) 
(terms in contracts are given their ordinary dictionary definition). 
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compromise), the attorney fees would not be available." McKee, 164 

Wn.2d at 400. Such a limit "is substantively unconscionable." /d. 

C. The Addendum is unconscionable under Hill v. Garda because 
it forces employees to pay half the costs of arbitration. 

Requiring Plaintiffs to bear half the arbitration costs is 

substantively unconscionable. See Hill, 179 Wn.2d at 56-57; Adler, 153 

Wn.2d at 353; Gandee, 176 Wn.2d at 605. Such a requirement is 

unconscionable when plaintiffs produce information explaining how such 

costs would prohibit them from pursuing claims. Hill, 179 Wn.2d at 57. 

Here, Plaintiffs produced uncontested evidence that arbitration will 

carry an estimated cost in the six figures. CP 139-140. Requiring Plaintiffs

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