RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
May 18, 2015, 2:21 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 91686-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 71625-5-I) (King County Superior Court Docket No. 13-2-38634-8 KNT)

MICHAEL ROMNEY; FARON BAUER; and KRISTEN CHILDRESS, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Petitioners,

v.

FRANCISCAN MEDICAL GROUP, a Washington Corporation; FRANCISCAN HEALTH SYSTEM, a Washington Corporation; FRANCISCAN HEALTH VENTURES, a Washington Corporation; FRANCISCAN NORTHWEST PHYSICIANS HEALTH NETWORK, LLC, a Washington Corporation; and CATHOLIC HEALTH INITIATIVES, a Colorado Corporation,

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

### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitioners' claim that the decision below conflicts with this Court's precedents is long on rhetoric and short on analysis. In the end, their argument depends on hypothetical scenarios and distortions of the Agreements, both regarding the actual text and the relevant context. The Court of Appeals appropriately rejected these arguments and properly applied this Court's precedents to the facts presented. *See Gandee v. LDL Freedom Enters., Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 598, 610, 293 P.3d 1197 (2013) (courts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> App. A at 13.

determine unconscionability "based on the specific facts at issue in the current case").

Petitioners' argument that the case presents an issue of substantial public interest rests on a mischaracterization of the Court of Appeals' decision as a broad rejection of previously-announced limitations on arbitration agreements in the employment context. Review of the decision, however, shows it is based on specific analysis of the particular contracts and circumstances at issue. No doubt for this reason, the petition fails to address the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), the most important of which is impact extending beyond the parties to the case. State v. Watson, 155 Wn. 2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903, 904 (2005). The rulings by the Court of Appeals here have no such impact.

# A. The Court of Appeals Followed Washington Law and Policy Favoring Arbitration.

Arbitration agreements in the employment context are governed by the FAA. See Zuver, 153 Wn.2d at 301 (citing Circuit City Stores, Inc. v. Adams, 532 U.S. 105, 119, 121 S. Ct. 1302 (2001)). The FAA establishes a "liberal federal policy favoring Arbitration Agreements." Gilmer v. Interstate/Johnson Lane Corp., 500 U.S. 20, 25, 111 S. Ct. 1647, 114 L. Ed. 2d 26 (1991) (quoting Moses H. Cone Mem'l Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 24, 103 S. Ct. 927, 74 L. Ed. 2d 765 (1983)).

Washington law also strongly favors arbitration. Zuver, 153 Wn.2d at 301 n.2 (citing Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. City of Everett, 146 Wn.2d 29, 51, 42 P.3d 1265 (2002); Mendez v. Palm Harbor Homes, Inc., 111 Wn. App. 446, 454, 45 P.3d 594 (2002); Perez v. Mid-Century Ins. Co., 85 Wn. App. 760, 765, 934 P.2d 731 (1997)).

The Agreements specifically provide that they are subject to the FAA, see CP 73, 99, 135, which mandates that written arbitration agreements "shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract." 9 U.S.C. § 2. The Court of Appeals appropriately followed this directive, which requires federal and state courts to "indulge every presumption in favor of arbitration, whether the problem at hand is construction of the contract language itself... or a like defense to arbitrability." 13

# B. The Court of Appeals Appropriately Determined that the Agreements are not Substantively Unconscionable.

After identifying the appropriate standard of review—which Petitioners do not contest—the Court of Appeals held "the terms of the agreement here are not so one-sided as to be labelled substantively unconscionable. In fact, the terms contained within the four corners of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> App. A at 3 (citing *Moses H. Cone*, 460 U.S. at 24-25).

arbitration agreement itself are mutual." Examination of Petitioners' individual claims demonstrates that this conclusion is correct.

### 1. Mutuality

Petitioners claim this aspect of the Court of Appeals' decision violates this Court's precedents by disregarding other provisions of the employment contract, located outside of the Agreements, which allow FMG to seek equitable relief in court in limited situations. In fact, the Court of Appeals carefully analyzed the provisions in question in light of this Court's holdings in *Zuver*. It correctly noted that *Zuver* does not require identical obligations in order to avoid a finding of unconscionability and that, with respect to those claims the parties agreed to arbitrate, the Agreements apply mutually. It also noted that equitable exceptions for non-compete/non-solicitation and specific performance have no bearing on the dispute between the parties. Therefore, it found it unnecessary to determine the substantive issue but, applying this Court's decision in *McKee v. AT & T Corp.*, 164 Wn.2d 372, 191 P.3d 845 (2008), held that if the equitable exclusions are unconscionable, "we can easily

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> *Id.* at 7-8.

<sup>15</sup> *Id.* at 9-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> *Id*. at 10.

<sup>17</sup> Id

give effect to the provisions of the arbitration agreement if the offending clauses were excised."18

Petitioners do not address why this holding warrants Supreme Court review. Instead, they would have the Court assume each challenged provision is invalid, lump them all together, and assume that collectively they warrant invalidating the Agreements. This is not the approach described in *McKee*, which requires analysis of how each allegedly unconscionable provision applies to the particular case and whether it impacts plaintiffs' "realistic chances of relief." 164 Wn.2d at 402.

# 2. Punitive Damages and Attorneys' Fees

Contrary to Petitioners' claims, the Court of Appeal's decision does not conflict with *Hill v. Garda CL Nw., Inc.*, 179 Wn.2d 47, 308 P.3d 635, 639 (2013). In *Hill*, the arbitrator was prohibited from awarding more than two or four months of back pay (depending on which agreement the employee signed). *Id.* at 55. The agreement also provided that this limitation could be "disregarded if recovery is 'specifically mandated by federal or state statute or law." *Id.* at 56 n.4. The Court held that, because "[a] specific 'period of recovery' is not contemplated by the applicable statutes . . . there is not a satisfactory backstop to the damages limitation provision that renders it substantively fair." *Id.* Nor is this a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Id. at 11.

<sup>19</sup> Petition at 18-19.

case like *McKee*, which involved a "one-way" fee limitation that allowed the product seller to recover fees whenever it prevailed against a consumer, but did not grant the consumer reciprocal rights. 164 Wn.2d at 400. The Court's concern was that this "lopsided" agreement created a too great a risk of discouraging consumers from pursuing their rights in arbitration. *Id.*; see also Gandee, 176 Wn.2d at 605-06.

There is no such disparity here, and no disadvantage to Petitioners. As the Court of Appeals noted, the applicable statutes provide that if Petitioners prove their wage claims, they "shall" receive an award of punitive damages and attorneys' fees. Unlike in *Hill*, where the arbitration agreement limited recovery to less than would be available in court, the Agreements here specifically require an arbitrator to award damages and fees as required under the law. Therefore, a "satisfactory backstop" exists. Petitioners' speculation that an arbitrator *might* disregard case law cannot support a finding of unconscionability. *See Zuver*, 153 Wn.2d at 312.

### 3. Arbitration Costs

A cost-sharing provision is unconscionable if the objecting party can demonstrate that it is unable to share the costs of arbitration. *See Hill*, 179 Wn.2d at 56-57. The Court of Appeals found that, because Petitioners have claimed that they are unable to bear the costs of arbitration, the

Agreements require FMG to bear the costs of Arbitration.<sup>20</sup> Because the language in this Agreement requires FMG to pay the cost of arbitration if Petitioners are unable to do so, this provision is not unconscionable. Further, it bears mention that Petitioners are seeking millions in individual and class relief; the cost of arbitration is not unreasonable relative to these claims, nor would the cost of litigation in court be insubstantial.

### 4. Confidentiality

The issue of confidentiality arises because the AAA's rules require arbitrators to maintain the confidentiality of proceedings, unless the parties agree otherwise. See CP 187. In criticizing the Court of Appeals for accepting what they regard as a belated stipulation by FMG that it will agree to waive confidentiality, Petitioners ignore the fact that the Arbitration Agreements themselves do not require confidentiality<sup>21</sup> and that, of necessity under the AAA rules, an agreement to waive confidentiality necessarily must be made after a matter is assigned to an arbitrator. These facts distinguish Gandee, where confidentiality was mandated in the agreements at issue, and the employer apparently insisted on confidentiality until it received an adverse appellate ruling. 176 Wn.2d at 607-08. An additional distinction is that Petitioners are not willing to

<sup>20</sup> See App. A at p. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> App. A at 13 ("[T]he arbitration clause is not objectionable.").

accept arbitration on any terms; therefore, the timing of FMG's offer to arbitrate openly, pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, is irrelevant.

These key factors aside, there is nothing inherently objectionable about confidential arbitrations. *Zuver*, 153 Wn.2d at 314 (citing *Barnett v. Hicks*, 119 Wn.2d 151, 159, 829 P.2d. 1087 (1992)). Rather, some form of prejudice must be demonstrated. *Id.* at 315. Petitioners make no claim of prejudice to themselves as a result of confidentiality; there is no prior similar proceeding cloaked in secrecy, and their own arbitration will be public if they so choose. Rather, their argument is that if their arbitration takes place in private (which it will not unless they want it to), others who may sue FMG in the future would be unable to take advantage of whatever relevant information can be derived from the proceedings in this case.<sup>22</sup> This speculation fails to establish grounds for Supreme Court review.

### 5. Application of Agreements to Third Parties

Petitioners complain that the Court of Appeals erroneously compelled them to arbitrate claims against parties not signatory to the Agreements. This issue arose—but was not decided—in the trial court because Petitioners sued FMG affiliates with whom they had no employment relationship. FMG and its affiliates asserted that Petitioners should be compelled to arbitrate all of their employment-related claims,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Petition at 16.

citing, inter alia, Townsend v. Quadrant Corp., 153 Wn. App. 870, 889 (2009), aff'd on other grounds by 173 Wn.2d 451, 268 P.3d 917 (2012), which held that when claims against a parent company and its subsidiary are "based on the same facts . . . and are inherently inseparable, a court may order arbitration of claims against the parent even though the parent is not a party to the arbitration agreement." CP 185. Petitioners responded by arguing that the relationship between the defendants had not been sufficiently established. CP 210.

On appeal, Petitioners changed their argument to suggest that it would be improper to compel them to arbitrate claims they may have—but have not made—against former co-workers.<sup>23</sup> The Court of Appeals addressed this argument "for the sake of judicial economy" and held that it is permissible to require arbitration of claims against agents of the employer that are inseparable from claims against the employer.<sup>24</sup> Petitioners cite no authority contradicting this common-sense proposition.

### 6. Severability

The parties expressly agreed to severance of any invalid provisions of their contract. CP 64, 100, 136. This Court has said it will enforce such agreements because "[c]ourts are generally loath to upset the terms of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Respondents' COA Brf. at 41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> App. A. at 15.

an agreement and strive to give effect to the intent of the parties." Accordingly, a court should excise invalid provisions if it is possible to do so without essentially rewriting the contract. *Zuver*, 153 Wn.2d at 320. Unconscionable terms "pervade" a contract when they "operate in concert to eliminate any realistic possibility of relief." *McKee*, 164 Wn.2d at 402.

Contrary to Petitioner's implication, the Court of Appeals here did not determine that six provisions in the Agreements were unconscionable. Instead, it assumed without deciding that if two provisions—those which permit FMG to seek equitable relief from a court in certain circumstances—are unconscionable, they do not permeate the Agreements and can easily and appropriately be excised.<sup>25</sup> Further, Petitioners make no showing—because they cannot—that their rights or ability to recover would be impacted in any way if the objected-to provisions were excised.

# C. The Agreements are not Procedurally Unconscionable.

Petitioners' procedural unconscionability argument ignores the relevant law, facts, and the lower court's analysis. As the Court of Appeals correctly stated, the "key inquiry under Washington law is whether the employee lacked a meaningful choice." It also observed that Petitioners were unquestionably familiar with the Agreements, and other terms of their employment contracts, and obviously had ample opportunity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See App. A at 10-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Id. at 5 (citing Zuver, 153 Wn.2d at 305).

to consider the terms, given that each of them renewed the arrangements on multiple occasions over several years. On this basis, it correctly found that the Petitioners were provided a "meaningful choice," and there was no procedural unconscionability under Washington law.<sup>27</sup>

Petitioners' claim that the exceptions for equitable relief are "hidden" is untenable; those provisions are equally prominent in the documents. It is also undisputed that Petitioners are highly educated, sophisticated people with ample opportunity to read their employment contracts. The Agreements also advised them to consult counsel before signing. CP 63, 99, 135. Under the law, Petitioners are presumed to have read and understood the contracts, and they chose to sign them with knowledge of the limited exceptions to arbitration under the Agreements. See Michak v. Transnation Title Ins. Co., 148 Wn.2d 788, 799, 64 P.3d 22 (2003) ("[A] party to a contract which he has voluntarily signed will not be heard to declare that he did not read it, or was ignorant of its contents.").

# V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, the petition should be denied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Id. at 8.

Respectfully submitted this 18th day of May, 2015.

BENNETT BIGELOW LEEDOM, P.S.

Michael Madden, WSB #8747

POLSINELLI, P.C. Karen R. Glickstein, MO Bar #37083

Attorneys for Petitioner